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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF ALABAMA

TREVA THOMPSON, et al.

Plaintiffs,
Civil Action No.
V. 2:16-cv-783-WKW

STATE OF ALABAMA, et al.,

N N N e N N N N N

Defendants.

DEFENDANTS’ REPLY IN SUPPORT OF THEIR MOTION TO DisMiss (Doc. 43)

As we explained in our initial brief, many of the 15 counts are due to be
dismissed by a straight-forward application of settled Supreme Court and Eleventh
Circuit precedent. Richardson v. Ramirez, 418 U.S. 24 (1974); Johnson v. Florida,
405 F.3d 1214 (11th Cir. 2005). The remainder are due to be dismissed for a variety
reasons, each of which presents a question of law.

The plaintiffs’ brief in opposition is largely non-responsive. This lawsuit was
clearly filed as a vehicle to ask the Eleventh Circuit and United States Supreme
Court to reconsider longstanding precedents about pure questions of law. Our brief
invokes those precedents and engages on those legal issues. The plaintiffs’ response
proceeds in large part as if those precedents do not exist and treats this purely legal
dispute as something that warrants extensive discovery and fact-findings.

The Court already has more than 100 pages of briefing on the 15 claims in
this case. So this reply will be short. It begins by addressing errors the plaintiffs

make about the motion to dismiss standard, such as which type of allegations the
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Court must accept as true at this stage. Then for each of the 15 counts, the
defendants summarize the parties’ arguments and demonstrate that each count
should be dismissed as a matter of law. For the Court’s convenience, we have
produced a table as an appendix at the end of this brief identifying where each
claim was addressed in our initial brief and the plaintiffs’ response.

I. There are no factual issues standing in the way of dismissal.

The plaintiffs’ brief is based on a misunderstanding of the standards that
apply to a motion to dismiss. It repeatedly asserts that the plaintiffs must be
allowed to compile a factual record about purely legal questions that do not warrant
factual development. It argues that conclusory allegations in the complaint must be
accepted as true. And it asserts that the Court may not take judicial notice of
indisputable historical facts, many of which are reflected in citations to statutes and
court decisions. None of these positions is correct.

First, there is no reason for discovery or evidentiary proceedings. The
plaintiffs argue that they are entitled to discovery and the opportunity to present
expert testimony on such legal subjects as the proper interpretation of the
Fourteenth and Twenty-fourth Amendments. See, e.g., Doc. 48 at 30 (proposing
“expert evidence” to show that “the term ‘other crime’ in Section 2 must be
understood as limited to those crimes similar to the specifically-enumerated crime
of rebellion”). But that is not how lawsuits work. When there is a question of how to
Iinterpret a statute or the Constitution, the attorneys research the law and present

arguments; they do not propound interrogatories or take depositions. And no expert
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testimony 1s necessary: The court is the expert on the law. In any event, the
plaintiffs ignore the fact that courts have already interpreted these Amendments,
and under those court decisions, the plaintiffs’ claims fail. See Richardson uv.
Ramirez, 418 U.S. 24, 54, 72 (1974); Johnson v. Florida, 405 F.3d 1214 (11th Cir.
2005) (en banc).

Similarly, the plaintiffs erroneously argue that the defendants have made
“counter-allegations on factual issues” by citing to numerous cases and statutes that
use the term “moral turpitude” or address the meaning of that term under Alabama
law. Doc. 48 at 21. To be clear, this Court can read the law at the motion to dismiss
stage. Legal citations are not the sort of thing that must be supported by testimony
at a bench trial.

Second, the plaintiffs argue that this Court must assume conclusory
allegations to be true. For example, the plaintiffs argue that on a motion to dismiss
this Court must accept their allegation that Alabama selected the term “moral
turpitude” in 1996 because “its shapeless content created space for racially
discriminatory enforcement.” Doc. 48 at 23. But that statement is a conclusion, not
a factual allegation entitled to a presumption of truth: “A court considering a
motion to dismiss may begin by identifying allegations that, because they are mere
conclusions, are not entitled to the assumption of truth. While legal conclusions can
provide the complaint's framework, they must be supported by factual allegations.”
Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 664 (2009). To survive the motion to dismiss, the

plaintiffs had to point to factual allegations that make such a claim of racist intent
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plausible. 1t is not enough to allege that the Alabama Legislature unanimously
enacted a state law because of racism, when the complaint pleads no facts to
support the conclusion.

Finally, the plaintiffs argue that this Court may not take judicial notice of
certain facts set out in the defendants’ motion, although it is never quite clear
which facts the plaintiffs contest, and they do not identify any specific exhibit to the
defendants’ motion as being improper. In any event, a court may take judicial notice
of facts “generally known within the trial court’s territorial jurisdiction” or which
“can be accurately and readily determined from sources whose accuracy cannot
reasonably be questioned.” FED. R. EVID. 201(b). Issues such as the contents of the
House and Senate Journals, the texts of laws, the differences between the 1901 and
1996 provisions (and how the 1996 provision disenfranchised a narrower class of
criminals) are beyond dispute, and this Court may take judicial notice of such
matters without converting the motion into one for summary judgment. We do not
need discovery on the House and Senate Journals, any more than we need discovery
about how to interpret the Constitution.

The plaintiffs claim that there are factual disputes that preclude dismissal at
this stage, but there are not. The issues the plaintiffs point to are legal issues that

the Court must decide on a Rule 12 motion.
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II. Each Count in the plaintiffs’ Complaint should be dismissed.

A. Count 1 (intentional discrimination / 14th Am.) and Count 2
(same / 15th Am.)

The plaintiffs’ claims of intentional racial discrimination are not plausible,
because whatever the motives of the 1901 Constitutional Convention, those motives
cannot be carried over to the 1996 passage of the provision in Amendment 579 or
the 2012 re-adoption of this provision in Amendment 865 (which the plaintiffs do

P14

not mention). The plaintiffs’ “guilt by history” theory is not valid after Johnson v.
Florida, 405 F.3d 1214 (11th Cir. 2005), and amending or re-adopting an earlier law
requires the plaintiffs to point to more than the motives of the original drafters.

The plaintiffs’ response to the motion to dismiss their racial intent claims
simply emphasizes the serious failings in their complaint.

First, they identify no factual allegations that would show that the
Legislature and voting public were motivated by racism when they enacted
Amendment 579 in the 1990s. Like the complaint, their brief relies exclusively on
the same conclusory allegations of racism that the Supreme Court, in Igbal itself,
held to be insufficient to state a claim. See Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662 (2009)
(allegations of racism without factual material to support them are insufficient to
state a claim). Oddly enough, the only specific allegation in the plaintiffs’ brief
about the Legislature’s motivations in the 1990s undermines their claim of racist
intent: the plaintiffs now say “that the bill was sold as legislative housekeeping,”

which is not a factual allegation that supports a claim of racial intent. Doc. 48 at

14.
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When evaluating the plausibility of these claims of racial discrimination, the
Court should consider a recent decision by Judge Proctor concerning Alabama’s
minimum wage law. Lewis v. Bentley, case no. 2:16-cv-690 (N.D. Ala.), doc. 42 (Feb.
1, 2017). In Lewis, the plaintiffs challenged a state law that prohibited local
jurisdictions from passing their own minimum wage laws. The Lewis plaintiffs
argued that the challenged state law was racially motivated because it voided a
raise In the minimum wage passed by the City of Birmingham and
disproportionately affected African-Americans. In an order attached hereto as
Exhibit 1, Judge Proctor dismissed for a variety of reasons, and specifically
recognized that (1) conclusory claims of racial discrimination must be supported by
allegations of underlying facts that would make such claims plausible (doc. 52 at
21); (2) a claim of intentional discrimination is not plausible where there is an
“obvious alternative explanation” for the conduct (id.); and (3) where there are
legitimate reasons for the conduct, only the “clearest proof [of illicit motive] will
suffice” (doc. 52 at 24). Like the minimum wage case, the plaintiffs’ discrimination
claims are built on conclusory allegations. They invoke Alabama’s history, but they
do not allege any facts that, if true, would suggest that Alabama’s legislators and
voters were motivated by racism when they passed a “housekeeping” constitutional
amendment in the 1990s.

Second, even though the plaintiffs say they are not relying on the same
“guilt-by-history” argument rejected in Johnson, their brief underscores that is

precisely what they are doing. They cite the “racist passage of the 1901
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Constitution” in almost every paragraph of their discussion of their racial intent
claim. Their entire argument about this claim is based in some way on allegations
about the 1901 Constitutional Convention. See Doc. 48 at 15-17. They expressly
argue that “the current language cannot be unmoored from its racially motivated
history,” Doc. 48 at 17, even though Johnson expressly holds that a new enactment
“eliminate[s] any taint” from a previous one. Johnson, 405 F.3d at 1224. See also
Cotton v. Fordice, 157 F.3d 388, 391 (5th Cir. 1998) (reenactment “removed the
discriminatory taint associated with the original version”).

Third, the plaintiffs’ brief completely ignores the fact that the Legislature
and voters re-enacted the amendment in its entirety in 2012. Whatever the merits
of their allegations about the 1990s, the plaintiffs say nothing about the 2012
Amendment 865. They do not even make conclusory allegations about racism with
respect to that Amendment. Instead, they say only in a footnote that “the
modification voted on in 2012 had no impact on the disenfranchisement language.”
Doc. 48 at 13 n.5. But that is precisely the point. The 2012 amendment reenacted
the disenfranchisement language in full. See Ex. D to Doc. 43. The Court could
strike Amendment 579 (passed in the 1990s) from the Alabama Constitution and
felons would still be disenfranchised under Amendment 865 (passed in the 2010s).
The plaintiffs’ failure to even address the 2012 amendment clearly dooms their

racial discrimination claim about the 1996 amendment.
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B. Count 3 (racial discrimination / §2)

The plaintiffs’ §2 claims fail because §2 does not apply to felon
disenfranchisement laws. Johnson v. Florida, 405 F.3d 1214 (11th Cir. 2005). The
plaintiffs assert that Johnson was decided under different circumstances, but the
Eleventh Circuit did not decide that Florida’s law survived §2 scrutiny on the facts
of that case; rather, the court held that §2 simply has no application to laws like the
one challenged here.

C. Count 4 (non-racial discrimination / 14th Am.) and Count 5
(non-racial discrimination / 15th Am.)

The plaintiffs’ non-racial discrimination claims claims should be dismissed on
the authority of Richardson: One part of the Constitution cannot prohibit a law that
another part expressly allows. The plaintiffs assert that Richardson did not decide
the precise scope of laws for which a criminal may be disenfranchised, but
Richardson at least made clear that such laws are permissible when applied to
felons. Alabama does not disenfranchise for crimes below a felony level.

The plaintiffs suggest that our reading of Richardson is not supported by
“any authority.” Doc. 48 at 9. They must have missed the following from our initial
brief. See Allen v. Ellisor, 664 F.2d 391, 395 (4th Cir. 1981) (“The decision in
Richardson is generally recognized as having closed the door on the equal protection
argument in a challenge to state statutory voting disqualifications for conviction of
crime.”), cert. granted, judgment vacated on mootness grounds, 454 U.S. 807 (1981);

Owens v. Barnes, 711 F.2d 25, 27 (3d Cir. 1983) (“Plaintiff’s argument fails because
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the right of convicted felons to vote is not ‘fundamental.’” That was precisely the
argument rejected in Richardson.”).

As to the plaintiffs’ theory that the Fourteenth Amendment should be read to
apply only to common law felonies or some other limited class of felons, we
addressed those arguments in our brief and stand on Justice O’Connor’s persuasive
decision rejecting those arguments for the Ninth Circuit in Harvey v. Brewer, 605
F.3d 1067 (2010).

D. Count 6 (burden on the right to vote of persons not

disenfranchised by the challenged provision / 14th Am.) and
Count 7 (same / 15th Am.)

In Counts 6 and 7, the plaintiffs assert that there might be felons whose
crimes do not involve moral turpitude, who might choose not to register because a
Registrar might not register them. Counts 6 and 7 should be dismissed because, (1)
in addition to being speculative, prospective registrants have no fear of prosecution
if they are unsure of the status of their crime, (2) because “moral turpitude” is
sufficiently clear especially as applied to these plaintiffs, and (3) because the
plaintiffs’ real grievance in these counts appears to be the language of the
registration forms, which they have not challenged.

The plaintiffs’ primary response is to point to the alleged hopelessness of
knowing which felonies involve moral turpitude, but the task is hardly hopeless.
Like any other term in the Alabama Constitution, the Alabama Supreme Court is

”

the ultimate arbiter, and it has explained that “moral turpitude” “signifies an

inherent quality of baseness, vileness and depravity. It is immoral in itself,
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regardless of the fact that it is punished by law.” Ex parte Mclntosh, 443 So. 2d
1283, 1284 (Ala. 1983). See also Meriweather v. Crown Investment Corp., 268 So. 2d
780, 787 (1972) (defining “moral turpitude” as an “act of baseness, vileness or
depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowmen or to
society in general”). The term has been part of the nation’s legal fabric for centuries,
and courts have managed to interpret laws containing the term without difficulty.
See Jordan v. De George, 341 U.S. 223, 230-31 (1951) (finding that the term “moral
turpitude” is not unconstitutionally vague).

Consider Plaintiff Giles. He was convicted of stalking in the first degree, and
he is the only plaintiff who cannot vote who cannot find his crime in a list provided
by the Attorney General or AOC. That crime involves the elements of intentionally
and repeatedly following or harassing another person, and making a threat “with
the intent to place that person in reasonable fear of death or serious bodily harm.”
ALA. CODE § 13A-6-90. To the defendants, and we think to most people, such an act
seems clearly to involve “moral turpitude” as defined by the Alabama Supreme
Court, which is presumably why other courts have concluded that stalking is a
crime of moral turpitude. In any event, should Giles honestly believe otherwise and
wish to attempt registration, he is free to do so. His belief that he is not disqualified
means he commits no crime by attempting to register. Should a Registrar deny him,
Giles is free to appeal to Circuit Court, and ultimately to the Alabama Supreme

Court, to get a determination of whether stalking, threatening, and instilling fear of

10
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death of bodily harm is in fact an act of vileness, baseness, and depravity. The
process 1s not “arbitrary,” and these counts should be dismissed.

E. Count 8 (Procedural Due Process / 14th Am.)

As explained at length in our motion to dismiss and brief in support,
registrants are provided notice and an opportunity to be heard if their application is
denied on grounds that their felony involves moral turpitude. The plaintiffs’
arguments under Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319 (1976) are based on the
assumption that the plaintiff felons’ right to vote “is a ‘fundamental liberty.” Doc.
48 at 65. As felons, though, the plaintiffs have no fundamental right to vote. See
Richardson, 418 U.S. at 54 (rejecting the plaintiffs’ arguments that the defendants
were required to show a “compelling state interest”).

F. Count 9 (vagueness / 1st and 14th Am.)

The plaintiffs’ vagueness claim should be dismissed for the reasons discussed
in the defendants’ motion and above. “Moral turpitude” is not unconstitutionally
vague. Jordan, 341 U.S. at 230-31. Plaintiffs argue that Jordan does not apply here
because in that case, the term “moral turpitude” was used in an immigration
statute to determine which unlawfully-present persons are subject to deportation.
The context does not matter, though; the term is either one that reasonable people
can understand, or it is not. The Supreme Court said that it is. And the plaintiffs’
argument that this case is different because “moral turpitude” is used in Alabama’s

Constitution to impact a “fundamental right to vote” is inconsistent with

11
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Richardson, which made clear that a fundamental rights analysis does not apply to
felon voting. 418 U.S. at 54.

One phrase in the plaintiffs’ brief on this issue bares emphasis because it
directly contradicts Supreme Court precedent. The plaintiffs say that, in the
vagueness analysis, the fact that “the State must prove scienter at trial does not
lessen the burden posed by the threat of prosecution.” Doc. 48 at 50. The Supreme
Court has held, literally, the opposite: “a scienter requirement may mitigate a law’s
vagueness.” Vill. of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc., 455 U.S.
489, 499 (1982). Like so much of the plaintiffs’ brief, their vagueness arguments are
premised on a purported legal standard that has been rejected by the Supreme
Court.

G. Count 10 (“arbitrary disenfranchisement” / 14th Am.)

This count should be dismissed for the reasons discussed extensively in our
initial brief. Alabama is free to choose which felons to disenfranchise so long as its
policy is rational. Shepherd v. Trevino, 575 F.2d 1110 (5th Cir. 1978). There are
good reasons to disenfranchise all felons, but it 1is rational to limit
disenfranchisement to felons whose crimes are particularly vile. Moreover, the
plaintiffs’ response ignores this Court’s holding that “[A]bsent proof that
defendant[] acted with discriminatory intent, there can be no equal protection
violation where the theory is that the defendant unequally administered a facially
neutral law.” Hope for Families & Cmty. Serv., Inc. v. Warren, 721 F. Supp. 2d 1079,

1156-57 (M.D. Ala. 2010) (citation and internal quotations omitted). They are,

12
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again, arguing for this Court to impose a legal standard that is at odds with current
law.

H. Count 11 (ex post facto) and Count 12 (“cruel and unusual
punishment” / 8th Am.)

The plaintiffs’ ex post facto claim fails because, as many courts have held,
felon disenfranchisement is not “punishment.” Doc. 43 at 60—61. And, in any event,
there is no retroactivity issue because felons have been disenfranchised in Alabama
since 1901.

Nor i1s 1t cruel and unusual. As noted in the defendants’ motion, all but two
states disenfranchise felons while they are imprisoned, and thirteen of those
disenfranchise felons beyond the term of their prison sentence. When the
Fourteenth Amendment was adopted, “29 States had provisions in their
constitutions which prohibited, or authorized the legislature to prohibit, exercise of
the franchise by persons convicted of felonies or infamous crimes.” Richardson, 418
U.S. at 48. The plaintiffs suggest that Alabama’s law is “unusual” because Alabama
only disenfranchises a subset of felons (those whose crimes involve moral turpitude).
That is an especially illogical argument: a punishment is not “unusual” merely
because it is reserved for the worst offenders. In any event, the commonality of felon
disenfranchisement laws is not “yet another factual question not ripe for decision.”
Doc. 48 at 74. Westlaw makes available the laws of all fifty states, and discovery is

not required to determine which states disenfranchise some or all felons.

13
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I. Count 13 (legal financial obligations / 14th Am.), Count 14 (LFOs
/ 24th Am.) and Count 15 (LFOs / §2)

Alabama does not require payment of legal financial obligations (“LFOs”)
before a felon’s voting rights are restored; receiving a pardon provides an alternate
path to re-enfranchisement, and the statute governing pardons does not provide
that payment of LFOs is necessary for a pardon. ALA. CODE § 15-22-36. In fact, the
Board of Pardons and Paroles is expressly authorized “to remit fines and
forfeitures.” Id. Under Johnson, the ability to obtain a pardon — a path to re-
enfranchisement that does not require a payment — defeats the plaintiffss LFO
claims. 405 F.3d 1214.

Although there is no allegation in the complaint that the Board of Pardons
and Paroles requires payments of LFOs before granting a pardon, the plaintiffs say
in their brief that they will “demonstrate at trial that the standards used by the
Board of Pardons and Paroles in evaluating pardons also require an individual to
have paid her fines and fees in order to receive restoration of her voting rights.”
Doc. 48 at 81. Even if that were so, every court to have evaluated an LFO
requirement has upheld its constitutionality. See Harvey, 605 F.3d at 1079 (“We
have little trouble concluding that Arizona has a rational basis for restoring voting
rights only to those felons who have completed the terms of their sentences, which
includes the payment of any fines or restitution orders.”); Johnson v. Bredesen, 579
F. Supp. 2d 1044, 1054 (M.D. Tenn. 2008) (dismissing equal protection claim on this
ground); Johnson v. Bush, 214 F. Supp. 2d 1333, 1343 (S.D. Fla. 2002) (“The Court

finds that victim restitution is a crucial part of the debt the convicted felon owes to

14
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both the victim and society.”), aff'd on other grounds, 405 F.3d 1214 (11th Cir. 2005)
(en banc); Madison v. State, 163 P.3d 757, 770 (Wash. 2007) (finding “rational
relationship between requiring felons to satisfy all of the terms of their sentences,

including full payment of their LFOs” and legitimate state interest).

CONCLUSION

The Court should dismiss each and every count in the Complaint for the
failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted.
Respectfully submitted,

s/ Andrew L. Brasher

Andrew L. Brasher (ASB-4325-W73B)
Solicitor General

James W. Davis (ASB-4063-158J)

Misty S. Fairbanks Messick (ASB-1813-
T71F)

Assistant Attorneys General

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
501 Washington Avenue

Post Office Box 300152
Montgomery, Alabama 36130-0152
telephone: 334.353.2609
facsimile:  334.242.4891
abrasher@ago.state.al.us
jimdavis@ago.state.al.us
mmessick@ago.state.al.us
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APPENDIX

Summary of Counts and
Page References to Party Arguments

Count Claim Defendants’ Plaintiffs’
Arguments | Arguments
(Doc. 43) (Doc. 48)

1 Intentional Discrimination (14" Am.) 25-34 4-25

2 Intentional Discrimination (15™ Am.)

3 Felon disenfranchisement deprives black 34-36 25-26
voters of equal opportunity (82)

4 Non-racial discrimination (14™ Am.) 37-41 27-33

5 Non-racial discrimination (15" Am.)

6 Burden on right to vote of people whose 41-45 46-51
crimes do not involve moral turpitude (14" 50-54
Am.)

7 Burden on right to vote of people whose 41-45 46-51
crimes do not involve moral turpitude (1*
Am.)

8 Procedural Due Process (14" Am.) 54-59 57-68

9 Vagueness (1% Am. and 14" Am.) 45-49 34-46

10 Avrbitrary disenfranchisement (14" Am.) 50-54 51-56

11 Ex post facto 60-62 68-79

12 Cruel and Unusual punishment (8" Am.)

13 Failure to pay Legal Financial Obligations 62-67 79-90
(14" Am.)

14 Failure to pay Legal Financial Obligations 79-84
(24" Am.— poll tax) 90-95

15 Failure to pay Legal Financial Obligations 79-84
(82) 95-99




Case 2:16-cv-00783-WKW-CSC Document 50-1 Filed 02/10/17 Page 1 of 27

Exhibit



Cas€asEHYHoVEDFIRR IS CD ddacuene 5250F lle02(DA2Y 70/ PAg@agef 26f 27 FILED

2017 Feb-01 AM 08:26
U.S. DISTRICT COURT
N.D. OF ALABAMA

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ALABAMA
SOUTHERN DIVISION

MARNIKA LEWIS, et al.,
Plaintiffs,
V. Case No.: 2:16-CV-690-RDP

ROBERT J. BENTLEY ., et al.,

e e e e e e o

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

This matter is before the court on (1) Defendant Mayor William A. Bell, Sr.’s Motion to
Dismiss (Doc. # 28), and (2) the Motion To Dismiss filed by the State Of Alabama and Attorney
General Strange (Doc. # 30). The State Defendants’ Motion has been fully briefed. (Docs. # 40,
43, 44,50 and 51).

At issue in this case is the tug of war between the State of Alabama and the City of
Birmingham (and others) over the authority to establish a minimum wage. Plaintiffs have
painted this dispute as yet another chapter in Alabama’s civil rights journey. Defendants
disagree and frame it as a simple matter of ensuring consistency in how employers operating
within the state are treated. After careful review, the court concludes there are fatal flaws
affecting Plaintiffs’ claims: (1) they have not sued the correct Defendants (i.e., they have not
included the appropriate characters in their “painting),” and this affects their standing to pursue
certain of their claims; (2) they have failed to state a claim under Section 2 of the Voting Rights
Act; (3) their Section 2 claim is also barred by the Eleventh Amendment; (4) their equal

protection claim has not been plausibly pled; (5) their Thirteenth and Fifteenth Amendment
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claims necessarily fail; and (6) they are not entitled to go forward on their race discrimination or
“political process” claims.
. Background

For over a century, the Alabama courts have recognized that cities in Alabama are “mere
creatures of the legislative power, established as political agencies for the more convenient
administration of local government, with such powers . . . as the [legislature] may, from time to
time, see fit to confer.” Hare v. Kennerly, 3 So. 683, 684 (Ala. 1888) (citing Meriwether v.
Garrett, 102 U.S. 472 (1880)). Alabama municipalities are subject to what is essentially a state
version of the Supremacy Clause prohibiting them from “pass[ing] any laws inconsistent with
the general laws of [the] state.” Ala. Const. art. 1V, 8§ 89; see also Ala. Code § 11-45-1
(authorizing cities to “adopt ordinances” except as “inconsistent with the laws of the state”).

The federally mandated minimum wage is currently $7.25 per hour. 29 U.S.C. §
206(a)(1)(C). Congress last adjusted the minimum wage in 2007. 29 U.S.C. 8 206 (a). In April
2015, the Birmingham City Council adopted a resolution urging the Alabama Legislature to
exceed the federal minimum wage on a statewide basis. (Doc. # 18, { 82). When the Legislature
did not act, the Birmingham City Council responded with a series of ordinances first enacting,
and later expediting, a local minimum wage of its own. (Doc. # 18, 11 21, 24-25, 85, 90-92).
Various state legislators then proposed bills that would require statewide adherence to the federal
minimum wage. In the 2016 regular session -- just as Birmingham’s ordinance was set to go into
effect -- the Legislature enacted the Alabama Uniform Minimum Wage and Right-to-Work Act
at issue in this lawsuit (“Act 2016-18” or “the Act”). See Ala. Act No. 2016-18, provisionally
codified at Ala. Code 88 25-7-40 et seq. The purpose of the Act was to “ensure that [labor]

regulation and policy is applied uniformly throughout the state.” Act No. 2016-18, § 6(a). The



Cas€ask2c Y8 ovERGIRMR RS CD deacuené 525 0File d-02(DA21 Y0/ Pag @ 8gef 2®f 27

Act further establishes the Legislature’s “complete control” over not only minimum wage policy,
but also other issues such as “collective bargaining under federal labor laws,” and “the wages,
leave, or other employment benefits provided by an employer” to its employees. Id. The Act
parallels similar legislation adopted in at least sixteen other states prohibiting localities from
enacting their own minimum wage ordinances.

Plaintiffs principally allege that Act 2016-18 has the purpose and effect of transferring
control over minimum wages and all matters involving private sector employment in the City of
Birmingham from municipal officials elected by a majority-black local electorate to legislators
elected by a statewide majority-white electorate. They further contend that Act 2016-18 was
enacted with the intent of discriminating against the people who live and work in the City of
Birmingham on the basis of race in violation of Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. §
10301, as well as the Thirteenth, Fourteenth, and Fifteenth Amendments to the Constitution of
the United States.

The Amended Complaint names as Defendants the State of Alabama, Luther Strange in
his official capacity as Attorney General, the City of Birmingham, and William Bell in his
official capacity as Mayor of Birmingham. It contains the followings counts:

1. Count I: Violation of § 2 of the Voting Rights Act: Results Standard

2. Count II: Perpetuation of Alabama’s de jure Policy of Maintaining White Control
over Local Black Majorities in Violation of the Equal Protection Clause.

3. Count IIT: Perpetuation of Alabama’s de jure Policy of Maintaining White
Control over Local Black Majorities in Violation of the Privileges or Immunities Clause.

4. Count IV: Perpetuation of Alabama’s de jure Policy of Maintaining White
Control over Local Black Majorities in Violation of the Fifteenth Amendment.

5. Count V: Perpetuation of Alabama’s de jure Policy of Maintaining White Control
over Local Black Majorities in Violation of the Thirteenth Amendment.
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6. Count VI: Vestiges of de jure Racial Segregation in Violation of the Equal
Protection Clause.

7. Count VII: Intentional Racial Discrimination in Violation of 8 2 of the Voting
Rights Act and the Thirteenth, Fourteenth, and Fifteenth Amendments.

8. Count VIII: Racially-Motivated Enactment of Act 2016-18 Violates the Equal
Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

9. Count IX: Equal Protection Claim Based on the Political Process Doctrine.
(Doc. # 18).

After careful review, and for the reasons stated below, the court concludes that
Defendants are entitled to judgment as a matter of law on Plaintiffs’ claims.
1. Standard of Review

The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure require only that the complaint provide “a short and
plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.” Fed. R. Civ. P.
8(a)(2). However, the complaint must include enough facts “to raise a right to relief above the
speculative level.” Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007). Pleadings that
contain nothing more than “a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action” do not
meet Rule 8 standards, nor do pleadings suffice that are based merely upon “labels and
conclusions” or “naked assertion[s]” without supporting factual allegations. Twombly, 550 U.S.
at 555, 557. In deciding a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, courts view the allegations in a
complaint in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Watts v. Fla. Intl. Univ., 495 F.3d
1289, 1295 (11th Cir. 2007).

To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must “state a claim to relief that is plausible
on its face.” Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570. “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads
factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable

for the misconduct alleged.” Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). Although “[t]he
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plausibility standard is not akin to a ‘probability requirement,”” the complaint must demonstrate
“more than a sheer possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfully.” Id. A plausible claim for
relief requires “enough fact[s] to raise a reasonable expectation that discovery will reveal
evidence” to support the claim. Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556.

In considering a motion to dismiss, a court should “1) eliminate any allegations in the
complaint that are merely legal conclusions; and 2) where there are well-pleaded factual
allegations, ‘assume their veracity and then determine whether they plausibly give rise to an
entitlement to relief.”” Kivisto v. Miller, Canfield, Paddock & Stone, PLC, 413 Fed. Appx. 136,
138 (11th Cir. 2011) (quoting Am. Dental Assn. v. Cigna Corp., 605 F.3d 1283, 1290 (11th Cir.
2010)). That task is context specific and, to survive the motion, the allegations must permit the
court based on its “judicial experience and common sense . . . to infer more than the mere
possibility of misconduct.” Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556. Further, “courts may infer from the
factual allegations in the complaint ‘obvious alternative explanation[s],” which suggest lawful
conduct rather than the unlawful conduct the plaintiff would ask the court to infer.” Am. Dental,
605 F.3d at 1290 (quoting Igbal, 556 U.S. at 682). If the court determines that well-pleaded
facts, accepted as true, do not state a claim that is plausible, the claims are due to be dismissed.
Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556.

I11.  Analysis

The court will first take up Mayor Bell’s Motion, to which no opposition has been filed.
The court will then address the overarching standing issues relevant to all claims in this case,
examine each individual claim, and discuss the specific issues applicable to each of the claims.

A Mayor Bell’s Motion to Dismiss

In the Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs state:
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The City of Birmingham and Mayor Bell are named as defendants only for the
purpose of providing complete relief among the parties with respect to the claims
raised herein.

(Doc. # 18 at 11 18). Plaintiffs have indicated that Mayor Bell is a party because he “has not acted
to enforce Ordinance 16-28" because of Act 2016-18.” (Doc. # 18 at 1 17). Similarly, they have
sued the City due to its non-enforcement of “Ordinance 16-28 because of Act 2016-18.” (Doc. #
18 at 11 16). Mayor Bell is only named in the Amended Complaint in his official capacity. He
seeks dismissal of the claims against him as duplicative of the claims against the City. Plaintiffs
have not opposed Mayor Bell’s Motion.

“Official-capacity suits ... ‘generally represent only another way of pleading an action
against an entity of which an officer is an agent.”” See Kentucky v. Graham, 473 U.S. 159, 165
(1985) (quoting Monell v. New York City Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 436 U.S. 658, 690 n. 44 (1978)).
Thus, “[b]ecause suits against a municipal officer sued in his official capacity and direct suits
against municipalities are functionally equivalent, there no longer exists a need to bring official-
capacity actions against local government officials, because local government units can be sued
directly ... .” Busby v. City of Orlando, 931 F.2d 764, 776 (11th Cir. 1991). Upon review, the
court finds that Plaintiffs’ claims against Mayor Bell are entirely duplicative of Plaintiffs’ claims
against the City. (Doc. # 18 at 8). Permitting Plaintiffs to pursue claims against both the City and
Mayor Bell in his official capacity in this case would be redundant and needlessly confusing. See
Busby, 931 F.2d at 776. Therefore, Mayor Bell’s Motion to Dismiss is due to be granted.

B. Plaintiffs Lack Article 111 Standing (All Counts Against Attorney General Strange,
Mayor Bell and the City of Birmingham)

Standing to sue is a doctrine rooted in the traditional understanding of the case or

1 On August 18, 2015, the Birmingham City Council unanimously passed, with one abstention, Ordinance
15-124 that would raise the minimum wage for employees working in the city to $8.50 per hour as of July 1, 2016,
and $10.10 per hour on July 1, 2017. Ordinance 16-28 moved the effective date of the minimum wage increase to
February 24, 2016 and increased the minimum wage to $10.10.

6
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controversy requirement. Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins, 136 S. Ct. 1540, 1547 (2016). The doctrine
delimits the category of litigants empowered to maintain a lawsuit in federal court to seek redress
for a legal wrong. Id. (citing Valley Forge Christ. College v. Am. United for Separation of
Church and State, Inc., 454 U.S. 464, 473 (1982); Warth v. Sedlin, 422 U.S. 490, 498-99
(1975)). To bring suit in federal court, a plaintiff must establish three elements as to each
defendant: (1) an injury in fact—that is, an invasion of a legally protected interest which is (a)
concrete and particularized, and (b) actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical; (2) a
causal connection between the injury and the conduct complained of—in other words, the injury
must be fairly traceable to the challenged action of Defendants, and not the result of the
independent action of some third party not before the court; and (3) a likelihood, as opposed to a
merely speculative chance, that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision of the court.
See Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-62 (1992). “Failure to establish any one [of the
three standing elements] deprives the federal courts of jurisdiction to hear the suit.” Rivera v.
Wyeth—Ayerst Labs., 283 F.3d 315, 319 (5th Cir. 2002); see also Delta Commercial Fisheries
Association v. Gulf of Mexico Fishery Management Council, 364 F.3d 269, 273 (5th Cir. 2004).
The Motion to Dismiss currently before the court was filed by the State of Alabama and
Attorney General Strange. These Defendants argue that the conclusory allegations of the
Amended Complaint do not show how Defendants’ actions affected, or even could affect,

Plaintiffs’ pay.® The court addresses each standing element below.

% Moreover, Defendants assert that the City of Birmingham has not caused Plaintiffs any injury. Rather, this
is a situation in which its city ordinance became inoperative as a result of Act 2018-18. Apparently recognizing
these facts, Plaintiffs state that the City Defendants are included in the Amended Complaint “only” for purposes of
the “relief” sought. (Doc. # 18, 9 18). Nonetheless, the City will be included in the court’s analysis.

7
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1. Element One: Injury-in-Fact

Plaintiffs contend that they -- and in the case of the organizational Plaintiffs, their
members -- have suffered an injury in fact because they are being paid less than the minimum
wage the City has adopted. Injury-in-fact has been called the “[f]irst and foremost” of standing's
three elements. Spokeo, Inc., 136 S. Ct. at 1547 (quoting Steel Co. v. Citizens for Better
Environment, 523 U.S. 83, 103 (1998)). In Spokeo, the Supreme Court discussed the dual
requirements of “particularization” and “concreteness” necessary to establish the “injury-in-fact”
prong of Article Il standing. 136 S.Ct. at 1548. “For an injury to be particularized, it must affect
the plaintiff in a personal and individual way.” Id. Concreteness, meanwhile, refers to the
realness of the injury. Id.

Plaintiffs argue that their allegations regarding the Attorney General’s supervisory
responsibilities regarding enforcement of Alabama laws (Doc. 18, 112), together with the very
specific public role that they ascribe to him in advising businesses on both Act 2016-18 and the
Birmingham ordinance (Doc. # 18, 11 13- 14), sufficiently show at this stage that the Attorney
General has “some connection with enforcement of the provision at issue.” (Doc. # 40 at 16).
They also contend that the City’s actions complying with state law under the terms of Act 2016-
18 are a cause of the Plaintiffs’ loss of wages coerced by the challenged statute. By complying
with the Act, Plaintiffs argue, the City of Birmingham effectively “enforces” it and therefore has
“some connection with the enforcement of the provision at issue.” (Id.). Defendants respond that
it is employers and the Alabama courts -- i.e., parties not before this court -- who will decide
whether the Act 2016-18 controls the wages payable to employees in the City of Birmingham.

(Doc. # 43 at 8).
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In San Diego County Gun Rights Committee v. Reno, 98 F.3d 1121 (9th Cir. 1996), the
Ninth Circuit denied standing to plaintiffs who alleged, among other things, that the Crime
Control Act, which banned certain types of guns (but “grandfathered” in certain others) made the
guns and ammunition the plaintiffs wished to purchase more expensive. Id. at 1124-30. Even
assuming that the law restricted supply and that the purported economic injury was an “injury in
fact,” the Reno court found it to be a “fatal flaw” in the plaintiff's standing argument that
“nothing in the Act directs manufacturers or dealers to raise the price of regulated weapons.” Id.
at 1130. Rather, third parties such as weapon dealers and manufacturers broke the chain of
causation by independently charging higher prices. Id. (citing Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560). There is a
similar “fatal flaw” in Plaintiffs’ standing argument here. To be sure, nothing prohibits
employers from paying the minimum wage set forth in the city’s ordinance (or more than the
federal minimum wage). Reno, 98 F.3d at 1130. What the Alabama Legislature has decreed is
that a municipality may not require a different minimum wage than that sanctioned by federal
law. There is no plausible allegation here that implicates the Attorney General or the City
Defendants with respect to any injury in fact suffered by Plaintiffs.

2. Element Two: Traceability

But even if Plaintiffs could establish an injury in fact here, they still lack standing
because they cannot meet the second standing element — traceability. In Allen v. Wright, 468
U.S. 737 (1984), the Supreme Court acknowledged that a certain group of plaintiffs, who were
parents of black schoolchildren, had indeed stated an injury in fact (i.e., a diminished chance for
their children to receive a racially integrated education) but nevertheless found that the injury
was not “fairly traceable” to the government's actions they challenged (i.e., granting tax-exempt

status to racially discriminatory public schools). 1d. at 753, 756-58. Rather, the Supreme Court
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held that the causal link between the plaintiffs’ injury and defendant’s actions was “highly
indirect” and “attenuated at best” because the injury “‘results from the independent action of
some third party not before the court.”” Id. at 757 (quoting Simon v. Eastern Ky. Welfare Rights
Org., 426 U.S. 26, 42 (1976)) (emphasis added). That is, the Court found the allegation that had
the schools not been given tax-exempt status, white students would have attended public rather
than private schools was wholly “speculative” Id. at 758.

“Cases after Allen have held that when a plaintiff is not the direct subject of government
action, but rather when the asserted injury arises from the government's allegedly unlawful
regulation (or lack of regulation) of someone else, satisfying standing requirements will be
‘substantially more difficult.”” Frank Krasner Enterprises, Ltd. v. Montgomery Cty., MD, 401
F.3d 230, 234 (4th Cir. 2005) (quoting Lujan, 504 U.S. at 562 (in turn quoting Allen, 468 U.S. at
758) (internal punctuation and citations omitted))). “This is so because, ‘[t]he existence of one or
more of the essential elements of standing “depends on the unfettered choices made by
independent actors not before the courts and whose exercise of broad and legitimate discretion
the courts cannot presume either to control or to predict.”””” Frank Krasner Enterprises, Ltd., 401
F.3d at 234 (quoting Allen, 468 U.S. at 758 (in turn quoting ASARCO Inc. v. Kadish, 490 U.S.
605, 615 (1989) (opinion of Kennedy, J.))). This rationale is fatal to Plaintiffs’ standing
arguments. The parties who are responsible for the passage of Act 2016-18 (which Plaintiffs
contend delimited their wages) are not before this court.

3. Element Three: Redressability

Defendants argue that another crucial defect in Plaintiffs’ standing argument is that the

Act 2016-18 will be in force regardless of any action this court may order Defendant Strange or

the City Defendants to undertake. The court agrees. “Nothing the Attorney General could be

10
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ordered to do or refrain from doing would redress the injuries [Plaintiffs] allege[].” Doe v. Pryor,
344 F.3d 1282, 1286 (11th Cir. 2003) (citing Hope Clinic v. Ryan, 249 F.3d 603, 605-06 (7th
Cir.2001) (holding that the plaintiffs did not have standing to challenge state laws authorizing
private suits for damages where only the state attorney general is named in the suit because “[the
state attorney general] cannot cause the plaintiffs injury by enforcing the private-action statutes
[and] any potential dispute plaintiffs may have with future private plaintiffs could not be
redressed by an injunction running only against public prosecutors”)). Where a defendant
occupies a position having no duty at all with regard to an Act, he cannot not be properly made a
party to a claim challenging the Act. Ex parte Young, 209 U.S. 123, 158 (1908).

The case of Fernandez v. Brock, 840 F.2d 622 (9th Cir. 1988), is instructive. As a
subsequent Ninth Circuit panel (in a later opinion) observed, in Fernandez:

plaintiffs were migrant workers seeking a court order to force the Secretary of

Labor to establish regulations that might affect their eligibility for retirement

benefits. However, because any increase in the benefits for which plaintiffs would

be eligible was entirely contingent upon the actual content of the regulations the

Secretary would ultimately establish, as well as the actions of plaintiffs’ private

employer, the court could not say with any degree of confidence that granting the
plaintiffs their requested relief would benefit them.

Alaska Ctr. for the Env't v. Browner, 20 F.3d 981, 985 (9th Cir.1994) (citing Fernandez, 840
F.2d at 626-28) (emphasis added).’

Similarly, here, as a matter of law and logic, nothing this court could order Attorney
General Strange or the City Defendants to do will affect Plaintiffs’ wages. Plaintiffs’ employers
set those wages, and it is the courts who will determine whether there is any violation of law

with respect to the setting of those wages. Therefore, Plaintiffs have failed to establish the

® The Fernandez court ultimately held that the plaintiffs had standing as a result of a “procedural injury”
that existed apart from any reduction in benefits, and that would be redressed by requiring the Secretary to establish
the desired regulations. Fernandez, 840 F.2d at 631.

11
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requisite elements of Article 111 standing as to Attorney General Strange and the City Defendants
in this case.

At oral argument, the court posed this question: who would be a proper defendant in this
action? Other than possibly Plaintiffs’ current employers, the answer is quite obvious that the
body which most directly “caused” Plaintiffs’ alleged injury by enacting Act 2016-18, is the
Alabama Legislature. But, notably, this case does not involve a claim against the Alabama
Legislature, and with good reason. Members of the legislature are entitled to absolute immunity
from the types of claims asserted by Plaintiffs. “Legislative immunity has long been a fixture of
our constitutional system. ‘The privilege of legislators to be free from arrest or civil process for
what they do or say in legislative proceedings has taproots in the Parliamentary struggles of the
Sixteenth and Seventeenth Centuries.”” Freedom from Religion Found., Inc. v. Saccone, 894 F.
Supp. 2d 573, 582 (M.D. Pa. 2012) (quoting Tenney v. Brandhove, 341 U.S. 367, 372 (1951). In
Tenney, the Supreme Court held that state legislators are immune from suit under § 1983 when
“acting in the sphere of legitimate legislative activity.” Id. at 376—77; see also Bogan v. Scott—
Harris, 523 U.S. 44, 48-49 (1998) (explaining that “legislators were entitled to absolute
immunity from suit at common law and that Congress did not intend the general language of §
1983 to impinge on a tradition so well grounded in history and reason”) (internal citation and
quotations omitted).

The relief sought in the Amended Complaint includes a request for injunctive relief
directing the Attorney General to notify legislators and members of the public that the Act 2016-
18 violates Section 2 of the VRA and the Thirteenth, Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments to
the US Constitution®, and ordering the City of Birmingham and Mayor Bell to enforce Ordinance

16-28. These actions, according to Plaintiffs, would redress the wrongs caused by the

* For the reasons discussed below, however, the court finds that the Act does not violate these provisions.

12
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enforcement of 2016-18. Despite Plaintiffs’ creative attempts to plead around legislative
immunity, Plaintiffs simply do not have Article Il standing to pursue these claims against the
Attorney General or the City Defendants.

C. The Voting Rights Act (Count 1) is Not Implicated Here

Even if Plaintiffs’ had Article III standing (and, to be clear, they do not), there is an
alternative reason to dismiss the claim asserted in Count I: the conduct alleged in the Amended
Complaint simply does not implicate Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act. That section bans “all
States and their political subdivisions from maintaining any voting ‘standard, practice, or
procedure’ that ‘results in a denial or abridgement of the right ... to vote on account of race or
color.”” Reno v. Bossier Parish Sch. Bd., 520 U.S. 471, 479 (1997) (quoting 42 U.S .C. § 1973(a)
(emphasis omitted)). Section 2 “does not deal with every voting standard, practice, or procedure,
but rather is limited to voting procedures that deny someone the right to vote.” Dougherty Cnty.,
Ga., Bd. of Ed. v. White, 439 U.S. 32, 50 n. 4, (1978). To prevail, a plaintiff must demonstrate
that “based on the totality of the circumstances, ... the political processes leading to ... election ...
are not equally open to participation by [minority groups] ... in that its members have less
opportunity than other members of the electorate to participate in the political process and to
elect representatives of their choice.” 52 U.S.C.A. §10301 (formerly 42 U.S.C. §1973(b)).

In Presley v. Etowah County Commission, the Supreme Court examined the scope of the
phrase “voting qualification or prerequisite to voting, or standard, practice, or procedure with
respect to voting” found in Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act. 502 U.S. 491 (1992). Although
the Presley decision addressed the scope of Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act, its analysis
applies with equal force to Section 2 because the same phrase is embodied in both sections:
“voting qualification or prerequisite to voting, or standard, practice, or procedure” with respect to

voting. Compare 42 U.S.C. § 1973(a) with 42 U.S.C. § 1973c. See Morse v. Republican Party of
13
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Va., 517 U.S. 186, 209 (1996) (Stevens, J.) (“[C]hanges in practices within covered jurisdictions
that would be potentially objectionable under § 2 are also covered under § 5.”); Holder v. Hall,
512 U.S. 874, 882 (1994) (Kennedy, J.) (“[T]he coverage of §§ 2 and 5 is presumed to be the
same.”); Bonilla v. City Council of City of Chi., 809 F.Supp. 590, 596 n. 3 (N.D. Ill. 1992)
(noting that “[a]lthough Presley technically dealt with the scope of § 5 ..., it is equally applicable
to § 2 because Presley defined the key terms in both sections”).

This court has previously adopted the following summary of the Presley decision,
authored by Chief Judge Watkins of the Middle District of Alabama:

In Presley, the Supreme Court held that 8 5 applies only to a change in a
“standard practice or procedure” that has a “direct relation to, or impact on,
voting.” 502 U.S. at 506. The Court observed that it had recognized four types of
changes that meet the “direct relation” test: Those that (1) “involved the manner
of voting”; (2) “involve[d] candidacy requirements and qualifications”; (3)
“concerned changes in the composition of the electorate that may vote for
candidates for a given office” or (4) “affect[ed] the creation or abolition of an
elective office.” Id. at 502-03. “The first three categories involve changes in
election procedures, while all the examples within the fourth category might be
termed substantive changes as to which offices are elective.” Id. at 503. Presley
distinguished between changes in a standard, practice, or procedure directly
affecting voting by the electorate and “changes in the routine organization and
functioning of government.” Id. at 504. While the latter changes may indirectly
affect voting, they are not within the scope of 8§ 5.

The Presley plaintiffs argued that a transfer of duties among and away
from elected officials pertaining to repairs and discretionary spending for road
maintenance within two Alabama county commissions constituted “changes” that
had a direct relation to voting and, thus, required preclearance. See id. at 493. The
first alleged change took away the commissioners' discretion to allocate funds as
needed in their districts and instead put all funds in a common account to be doled
out based upon needs of the county as a whole. The second alleged change, which
occurred within another county commission, transferred authority concerning
road and bridge operations from the elected county commissioners to an
appointed county engineer who answered to the commission. See id. at 497-99.

The Supreme Court held that these changes did not fit within any of the
four categories it had previously recognized as having a direct relation to voting.
See id. at 503-08. The first alleged § 5 change “concern[ed] the internal
operations of an elected body.” Id. at 503. “Changes which affect only the

14
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distribution of power among officials are not subject to 8 5 because such changes
have no direct relation to, or impact on, voting.” Id. at 506. The other alleged § 5
change also did not require preclearance because even if “the delegation of
authority to an appointed official is similar to the replacement of an elected
official with an appointed one” (fourth category), it did not “change[ ] an elective
office to an appointive one.” Id. at 506-07. Both before and after the change, the
county voters could elect their county commissioners. And while the change
resulted in a shift in the balance of authority through the creation of an appointed
post, the commission “retain[ed] substantial authority, including the power to
appoint the county engineer and to set his or her budget.” Id. at 508. The Supreme
Court concluded:

Covered changes must bear a direct relation to voting itself. That
direct relation is absent in both cases now before us. The changes
in [the two county commissions] affected only the allocation of
power among governmental officials. They had no impact on the
substantive question whether a particular office would be elective
or the procedural question how an election would be conducted.
Neither change involves a new “voting qualification or prerequisite
to voting, or standard, practice, or procedure with respect to
voting.” 42 U.S.C. § 1973c.
Id. at 510.
Barber v. Bice, 44 F. Supp. 3d 1182 (N.D. Ala. 2014) (quoting Ford v. Strange, 2013 WL
6804191, at *12-13 (M.D. Ala. Dec. 23, 2013), aff'd, 580 F. App'x 701 (11th Cir. 2014)).
Similarly, here, there is no question that Act 2016-18 does not involve a new “voting
qualification or prerequisite to voting, or standard, practice, or procedure with respect to voting.”
42 U.S.C. § 1973c. Both before and after the Act, the Birmingham City voters were free to elect
their city councilors. And while the Act may have resulted in a tangential shift in the balance of
authority with regard to the setting of wages, the Birmingham City Council has nevertheless
“retain[ed] substantial authority.”
In Ford, city and county officials commenced an action against the Governor and the

Attorney General for the State of Alabama claiming that State's elimination of gambling

operations was a violation of their rights under the Voting Rights Act and constituted a violation

15
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of their due process rights. 580 F. App'x at 709-10. In addressing Plaintiffs’ claims, the
Eleventh Circuit stated:

Plaintiffs have not alleged injury to any cognizable “voting rights” for the simple
reason that their “asserted basis for standing has nothing to do with voting.”
Abortion Rights Mobilization Inc. v. Baker (In re U.S. Catholic Conference), 885
F.2d 1020, 1028 (2d Cir.1989). Plaintiffs allege that Defendants undermined
Amendment 744 several years after Plaintiffs had supported it. To the extent that
Plaintiffs assert a “voting right” to the post-enactment enforcement of the laws
that they vote for, their claims are “wholly insubstantial and frivolous.” Section 2
of the Voting Rights Act protects a right to equal-opportunity participation in the
electoral process. See Thornburg v. Gingles, 478 U.S. 30, 47, 106 S.Ct. 2752,
2764, 92 L.Ed.2d 25 (1986) (“The essence of a § 2 claim is that a certain electoral
law, practice, or structure interacts with social and historical conditions to cause
an inequality in the opportunities enjoyed by black and white voters to elect their
preferred representatives.”). We find no authority for the proposition that it
purports to protect a voter's interest in the post-enactment enforcement of the laws
that he supports. See, e.g., 42 U.S.C. § 1973l (c)(1) (defining the words “vote”
and “voting”). We consequently affirm the district court's dismissal of Count Two
on jurisdictional grounds.

Ford, 580 F. App'x at 709-10 (emphasis added). The Eleventh Circuit further held that “the
connection between Defendants' alleged conduct and Plaintiffs' votes -- which were cast years
earlier -- is simply too tenuous to establish “injury in fact” to any voting rights protected by
either Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act or the Thirteenth, Fourteenth, or Fifteenth Amendments
to the United States Constitution.” Id.

Here, too, the operative votes electing Plaintiffs’ local and statewide representatives were
cast before the passage of the city ordinance and the Act. Any connection between Defendants’
conduct (which had nothing to do with the enactment of Act 2016-18), and their non-
enforcement of Birmingham’s ordinance, is simply too tenuous to establish an injury in fact to
any voting rights. That is, even if the States’ Eleventh Amendment immunity had been
abrogated with respect to a Section 2 claim, the “VRA 8 2 does not apply, because this is not a

case involving a voting qualification or prerequisite to voting or standard, practice, or procedure

16



Cas€ask2cv80vEREFIRMR NS CD deacuené 525 0File d-020A21 Y0/ Pag@ageol 8®f 27

resulting in the denial of a right to vote.” Phillips v. Snyder, 2016 WL 4728026, at *9 (6th Cir.
Sept. 12, 2016).

Nor does the passage of Act 2016-18 touch, concern, or even relate to any of the
recognized categories to which the VRA applies. See Presley, 502 U.S. at 506. Plaintiffs have
not alleged any action by Defendants that (1) “involved the manner of voting”; (2) “involve[d]
candidacy requirements and qualifications”; (3) “concerned changes in the composition of the
electorate that may vote for candidates for a given office” or (4) “affect[ed] the creation or
abolition of an elective office.” Id. at 502-03. At most, the Act 2016-18 removes one thimble-
size slice of local authority. There is no colorable assertion that passage of Act 2016-18 has had
(or will have) any impact whatsoever on Plaintiffs’ right to vote or cast an effective ballot.
Under Presley, reallocations of government authority do not have the requisite relation to voting
on which to base a VRA claim. Presley, 502 U.S. at 506. Plaintiffs’ Section 2 claim in Count | is
due to be dismissed.

D. Sovereign Immunity Bars Plaintiffs Claim under Section 2 of the VRA
(Count 1)

Even if Plaintiffs had Article 111 standing (and they do not), and even if Plaintiffs’ claim
was cognizable under Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act (and, again, it is not), their claims
against the Attorney General and the State are still barred by the doctrine of Sovereign
Immunity. A federal court’s jurisdiction is limited “to the power conferred by the Constitution
and federal statutes, and the party invoking the court's jurisdiction bears the burden of proving
the existence of federal jurisdiction.” Lichtenberg v. Sec'y of the Navy, 627 F. App'x 916, 917
(11th Cir. 2015) (citing Bishop v. Reno, 210 F.3d 1295, 1298 (11th Cir. 2000)). The Eleventh
Amendment deprives federal courts of the power to hear claims brought by parties against states,

their agencies, or their officers, unless the state has waived its immunity or Congress has
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abrogated the state's immunity. U.S. Const. amend. XI.

Plaintiffs have not alleged any facts establishing that Alabama’s sovereign immunity has
been waived. A waiver of sovereign immunity “cannot be implied but must be unequivocally
expressed.” United States v. King, 395 U.S. 1, 4 (1969). The Supreme Court has rejected a
finding of a waiver of Eleventh Amendment immunity based on a general statement allowing
suit against the state, even when the statement was coupled with an express agreement to obey a
specific federal law. Florida Dep't of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Florida Nursing
Home Ass'n, 450 U.S. 147, 149-50 (1981) (per curiam) (statute allowing a state to “be sued” and
promising to “abide by ... the Title XIX Medicaid Program” did not waive the state's immunity).

Therefore, the fundamental question becomes whether Congress abrogated the state's
immunity in enacting the VRA. The standard for finding a valid abrogation is “stringent.”
Seminole Tribe of Fla. v. Florida, 517 U.S. 44, 56 (1996) (internal quotation marks omitted).
And even where Congress has the power to abrogate state immunity (such as in this case here,
when it has legislated under the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments), it may do so “only by
making its intention unmistakably clear in the language of the statute.” Id. So, while Congress
certainly had the power to abrogate state immunity when it passed the VRA, the key question is
this: did it unmistakably make clear its intent to do so? The court concludes that it did not.

In reviewing the relevant portions of the VRA, the court cannot discern any implied, let
alone unequivocally expressed, abrogation of sovereign immunity. Notably, when private
plaintiffs sue under Section 2 of the VRA, they do so only through an “implied private right of
action.” See, e.g., Ford v. Strange, 580 Fed. App’x at 705 n.6 (citing Morse v. Republican Party
of Va., 517 U.S. 186 (1996)). That is, the statute is silent not only as to the abrogation issue, but

also as to whether it creates a private right of action. When statutory text is silent on the issue of
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whether it abrogates sovereign immunity, that text is ambiguous. See Williams v. Poarch Band of
Creek Indians, 839 F.3d 1312, 1321 (11th Cir. 2016). And ambiguity cuts no abrogation ice at
all. ““To be effective the expression of Congressional intent [to abrogate sovereign immunity]
must be a clarion call of clarity. Ambiguity is the enemy of abrogation.”” Williams, 839 F.3d at
1321 (quoting Freemanville Water Systems v. Poarch Band of Creek Indians, 563 F.3d 1205
(11th Cir. 2009)) (emphasis added). There simply is no “clarion call of clarity” found in Section
2’s language which signals an abrogation of sovereign immunity. Id.

The court acknowledges that at least three courts have found that Congress has abrogated
state sovereign immunity for claims arising under Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act. See Mixon
v. State of Ohio, 193 F.3d 389, 398-99 (6th Cir. 1999); Reaves v. United States DOJ, 355
F.Supp.2d 510, 515 (D. D.C. 2005); and Terrebonne Par. NAACP v. Jindal, 154 F. Supp. 3d 354,
359 (M.D. La. 2015). But none of these decisions is binding on this court and they are not at all
persuasive. Terrebonne relied on Mixon with little or no examination or analysis of that decision.
154 F. Supp. 3d at 359. And in Mixon, the Sixth Circuit’s discussion of whether Congress had
employed language abrogating states’ immunity to these actions consisted of a single paragraph
that did not even mention that the plaintiffs were proceeding under an implied right of action.
Mixon, 193 F.3d at 398. Moreover, in Mixon, “the Ohio Attorney General ha[d] not [even]
pressed the immunity question on appeal.” 193 F.3d at 397. And Reaves addressed claims under
Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act. Reaves, 355 F. Supp. 2d at 513. None of these decisions
explains why Congress has unmistakably made clear that it was abrogating states’ immunity.

But, even more importantly, each of the three decisions got it wrong not only because
they failed to apply the stringent analysis (the proper standard required by Seminole Tribe, 517

U.S. at 56), but also because the application of such an analysis makes clear that Congress has
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not spoken on the issue of abrogation. For illustration’s sake, an example of an express
abrogation of sovereign immunity is found in Title IX. Title IX explicitly states, “[a] state shall
not be immune under the Eleventh Amendment of the Constitution of the United States from suit
in Federal court for a violation of ... title IX.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000d-7(a)(1). Title IX was enacted
in 1972. So, it is readily apparent that, in 1972 and since, Congress knew precisely how to
clearly and unmistakably announce the abrogation of sovereign immunity in this manner. The
VRA has been amended a number of times since 1972, yet Congress has never added language
to the Act indicating a clear intention to abrogate states’ sovereign immunity. In light of this
silence, this court is constrained by binding precedent to hold that the State Defendants’
immunity was not abrogated with respect to any implied private right of action under Section 2
of the VRA. Williams, 839 F.3d at 1321, see Ford, 580 Fed. App’x at 705 n.6.

E. Plaintiffs Have Not Adequately Alleged Any Equal Protection Violation
(Counts 11, VI and VIII)

The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides, in pertinent part:
“No State shall make or enforce any law which shall ... deny to any person within its jurisdiction
the equal protection of the laws.” U.S. Const. amend XIV, § 1. This clause is commonly referred
to as the equal protection clause and “is essentially a direction that all persons similarly situated
should be treated alike.” Alamo Rent-A—Car, Inc. v. Sarasota—Manatee Airport Auth., 825 F.2d
367, 369 (11th Cir. 1987). Equal protection claims arise from an individual's right not to be
subjected to intentional discrimination at the hands of the government. Campbell v. Rainbow
City, Ala., 434 F.3d 1306, 1313-14 (11th Cir. 2006).

Where, as here, the claim is based on a facially neutral statute, an allegation of intentional
discrimination is required. E & T Realty v. Strickland, 830 F.3d 1107, 11014 (11th Cir. 1987)

(“The requirement of intentional discrimination prevents plaintiffs from bootstrapping all
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misapplications of state law into equal protection claims.”); see Etherton v. City of Rainsville,
2016 WL 5349206, at *4 (11th Cir. Sept. 26, 2016). Indeed, Plaintiffs seemingly conceded that
allegations of intentional discrimination are required to state an equal protection claim when they
state that Count | of the Amended Complaint under the VRA “is the one claim that does not
require proof of racially discriminatory intent.” (Doc. # 40 at 25-26).

Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint makes a conclusory allegation, unsupported by any
specific factual allegations, that “Defendants actions constitute intentional discrimination on the
basis of race.” (Doc. # 18 at § 135). But an equal protection claim is not plausible where there
is an “obvious alternative explanation” for the conduct other than intentional discrimination.
Jabary v. City of Allen, 547 F. App'x 600, 605 (5th Cir. 2013) (citing Twombly, 550 U.S. at 567).
In such a circumstance, a plaintiff must “allege more by way of factual content to ‘nudge’ his
claim of purposeful discrimination ‘across the line from conceivable to plausible.”” Igbal, 556
U.S. at 683 (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570). Without specific factual allegations of an intent
to discriminate on the part of any particular legislators, Plaintiffs’ equal protection claims fail.

In light of the controlling Twombly/lgbal standard, and the requirement that a Plaintiff
allege intentional discrimination, Plaintiffs’ allegations regarding vestiges of de jure
discrimination fail to ‘nudge’ their claim equal protection claims across the line from
conceivable to plausible. Therefore, these claims are due to be dismissed for this alternative
reason.

F. Plaintiffs Have Conceded their Privileges and Immunities Claim (Count I11)

Plaintiffs have expressly conceded that their claim under the Fourteenth Amendment’s
Privileges or Immunities Clause (Count Il1) is foreclosed by Supreme Court precedent. (Doc. #

40 at 53 (“the right to vote is not among the privileges or immunities of United States citizenship
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protected by Section 1 of the Fourteenth Amendment. Minor v. Happersett, 88 U.S. 162
(1874).”). Therefore, Count 11 is due to be dismissed for this alternative reason.

G. The Fifteenth Amendment is Not Implicated (Count 1V)

In Count 1V, Plaintiffs assert a claim based on Alabama’s alleged de jure policy of
maintaining white control over local black majorities under of the Fifteenth Amendment. That
assertion lacks merit.

The Fifteenth Amendment provides that a citizen's right “to vote shall not be denied or
abridged by the United States or by any State on account of race, color, or previous condition of
servitude.” U.S. Const. amend. XV, § 1. This claim is due to be dismissed for the same reasons
that Plaintiffs’ claim under the Voting Rights Act fails — “the connection between Defendants'
alleged conduct and Plaintiffs' votes -- which were cast years earlier -- is simply too tenuous to
establish “injury in fact’ to any voting rights protected by either section 2 of the Voting Rights
Act or the [] Fifteenth Amendment[] ... .” Ford v. Strange, 580 F. App'x at 710. See also
Osburn v. Cox, 369 F.3d 1283, 1288 (11th Cir. 2004) (affirming dismissal of Fifteenth
Amendment claim where plaintiffs did not allege that they were denied any fundamental right in
relation to voting). Therefore, Plaintiffs’ Fifteenth Amendment claim is due to be dismissed for
this alternative reason.

H. The Thirteenth Amendment is Not Implicated (Count V)

Plaintiff’s claim under the Thirteenth Amendment advanced in Count V of the pleadings
is similarly without merit. The Thirteenth Amendment prohibits both slavery and involuntary
servitude, except as punishment for a crime when an individual has been duly convicted. U.S.
Const., amend. XIII, § 1. The Thirteenth Amendment reaches only slavery or involuntary

servitude. Whatever may be otherwise said about their allegations in this case, Plaintiffs have not
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claimed that they were forced into slavery or involuntary servitude. Plaintiffs are still entitled to
be paid for the work they choose to perform at an amount at least equal to the federal minimum
wage, and employers are of course free to pay them more. Therefore, Plaintiffs” Thirteenth
Amendment claim is without merit and is due to be dismissed for this alternative reason.

. Intentional Race Discrimination (Count VII)

As an initial matter, because in their Count VII Plaintiffs assert multiple claims, it
constitutes an example of “shotgun” style pleading which has been “repeatedly condemned” by
the Eleventh Circuit. See PVC Windoors, Inc. v. Babbitbay Beach Constr., N.V., 598 F.3d 802,
806 n. 4 (11th Cir. 2010); Davis v. Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consol., 516 F.3d 955, 979 (11th Cir.
2008). Indeed, the Eleventh Circuit has stated that such pleadings “wreak havoc on the judicial
system” and “divert already stretched judicial resources into disputes that are not structurally
prepared to use those resources efficiently.” Wagner v. First Horizon Pharma. Corp., 464 F.3d
1273, 1279 (11th Cir. 2006); see also Anderson v. Dist. Bd. of Trs. of Cent. Fla. Cmty. Coll., 77
F.3d 364, 366 (11th Cir. 1996) (stating that multiple claims should be presented separately in
adherence to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 10(b)). But that is not the only defect that plagues
the allegations in this count.

Substantively, this count fails to present anything other than conclusory allegations.
Plaintiffs have made no specific factual assertions which indicate that Act 2016-18 has a
discriminatory effect. On its very face, the Act applies statewide, prohibiting “[a]ny [local]
ordinance, policy, rule, or other mandate” that is inconsistent with its prescribed, uniform
minimum wage. Ala. Act No. 2016-18, § 2(b); see also id. § 6(d). “Absent discriminatory effect,

judicial inquiry into legislative motivation is unnecessary, as well as undesirable.” Crawford v.
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Bd. of Educ. of City of L.A., 458 U.S. 527, 544 n.31 (1982) (citation omitted) (equal protection
case).

Where, as here, there are legitimate reasons supporting the legislature’s decision, “only
the clearest proof [of illicit motive] will suffice.” Smith v. Doe, 538 U.S. 84, 92 (2003) (quotation
marks omitted); accord Flemming v. Nestor, 363 U.S. 603, 617 (1960) (requiring clearest-proof
requirement); see also McCleskey v. Kemp, 481 U.S. 279, 298-99 (1987) (requiring judicial
deference in the face of legitimate legislative reasons). Because there are no specific factual
allegations to support these conclusory, shotgun allegations, the claims asserted in Count V11 are
due to be dismissed for this alternative reason.

J. Political Process Doctrine (Count IX)

Under the so-called political process doctrine, states may not alter the procedures of
government to target racial minorities. Schuette v. Coal. to Defend Affirmative Action,
Integration & Immigrant Rights & Fight for Equal. By Any Means Necessary (BAMN), 134 S.
Ct. 1623 (2014) (citing Hunter v. Erickson, 393 U.S. 385, 394 (1969) (Harlan, J. concurring)).
The traditional equal protection analysis focuses on discriminatory intent. The political process
doctrine, on the other hand, looks at the discriminatory results of government restructuring. The
continued vitality of the political process doctrine as a whole is in question, see Schuette, 134 S.
Ct. at 1653-54 (Sotomayor, J., dissenting); Romer v. Evans, 517 U.S. 620, 23-24, 632 (1996);
however, that is not the dispositive point here.

Plaintiffs argue that the “political process” doctrine applies to “facially neutral”
legislation that restructures the political process. They contend that the court needs a factual
record to decide whether the effect of the legislation particularly burdened or injured racial

minorities by restructuring the political process and unduly restricting their ability to enact
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policies addressing racial disparities in employment. They further allege that Act 2016-18
suppresses black citizens’ economic opportunities. And they argue that the election of African
Americans to county legislative delegations has forced the Legislature to make changes to
preserve white control over local governments.

Because Act 2016-18 is facially neutral, it will be subject to strict scrutiny review “only if
it can be proved that the law was ‘motivated by a racial purpose or object,” or is unexplainable
on grounds other than race.” Hunt v. Cromartie, 526 U.S. 541, 546 (1999). Even in the view of
the dissent in Schuette, there is no violation unless the challenged government action “has a
racial focus, targeting a policy or program that ‘inures primarily to the benefit of the [racial]
minority.”” Schuette, 134 S. Ct. at 1659 (Sotomayor, J., dissenting) (quoting Washington v.
Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1, 458 U.S. 457, 472 (1982) (emphasis added)).

Here, the Act has no racial classifications and, on its face, calls for uniform economic
policy throughout the state. Plaintiffs’ political process claim makes nothing more than
conclusory allegations, not supported by any alleged factual information, that the Act places a
special burden on racial minorities. Thus, even to the extent the political process doctrine has
continuing vitality (an issue this court need not decide here), the allegations of Plaintiffs’
Amended Complaint fail to state such a claim. Therefore, Plaintiffs’ political process claim is
without merit and is due to be dismissed for this alternative reason.

V. Conclusion

For all these reasons, the court concludes that Plaintiffs’ claims are due to be dismissed

and Defendants are entitled to judgment as a matter of law. A separate order will be entered.
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DONE and ORDERED this January 31, 2017.

R' DAVID PROCTORY
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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